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“Pan Am is an instrument of U.S. policy
and a weapon of global war.”

—“PAN AM AT WAR,”

TIME MAGAZINE, MAY 18, 1942





To Bettylu Vaz,
my mother, for her inspiration and support

–MCV

To Renee, our son, James,
and the memory of my mother, Marianne

–JHH

and

To the trailblazing men and women
who pioneered global air transport





PART I

AIR POWER
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VISIONS OF THE FUTURE

“In a sense, the formation of Pan American Airways turned out to be the first countermeasure the United States ever took against Nazi Germany.”

—HENRY “HAP” ARNOLD, COMMANDING GENERAL,
U. S. ARMY AIR FORCES IN WORLD WAR II1

The Nazi blitzkrieg thundered over London, their bombs lighting up the blacked-out city as searchlights swept the sky and anti-aircraft batteries returned fire from Hyde Park. It was an hour before midnight and two Yanks were viewing the spectacle from their hotel rooftop. Juan Terry Trippe, president of Pan American Airways, would remember this day, June 17, 1941—now he was certain the United States would be drawn into the war in Europe. Major General Henry “Hap” Arnold, chief of the Army Air Force, saw grim confirmation of the prophecies of air power crusaders. Suddenly, a man stepped out of the shadows, tapped Trippe on the shoulder, and said, “The Prime Minister asks that you join him for dinner.”2

Earlier that evening, Trippe appeared before the Royal Aeronautical Society to deliver the Twenty-Ninth Wilbur Wright Memorial Lecture. His topic, “Ocean Air Transport,” detailed Pan Am’s advances since pioneering commercial airways across the Pacific and Atlantic. Flying oceans was a “developing art,” and with war curtailing Atlantic steamship service Pan Am provided a vital link between neutral America and besieged Britain. Trippe himself had made his crossing from New York on one of his airline’s iconic Flying Clippers.

The muffled explosions of aerial bombing were audible throughout Trippe’s lecture. Afterwards, Trippe was invited into the Air Ministry where Royal Air Force officials kept him talking before a gigantic world map. The topic was North Africa, where the tanks of General Erwin Rommel had cut off British supply lines and threatened Egypt and the Suez Canal. With the world map at hand, Trippe explained how a South Atlantic airway through Africa could supply the desert troops.

Trippe’s ensuing meeting with Prime Minister Winston Churchill begs the question: were Trippe and Arnold on a secret mission, using the prestigious lecture as cover? Since the summer of 1940, Trippe and President Franklin Roosevelt had discussed securing the South Atlantic skies between Brazil and Africa since the Nazi conquest of France gave Hitler a foothold in French colonial Africa, making South America vulnerable. An operation across Africa had also been discussed in months of secret correspondence between Churchill and Roosevelt. The day of Trippe’s lecture, Roosevelt reported to Churchill: “Army is studying possible ferry from Natal [Brazil] with idea that African landing places might be three in number—Bathurst, Freetown, and Liberia.”3 General Arnold even proposed using a commercial airline to do it.

Whether by accident or design, Trippe found himself at 10 Downing Street for a private midnight supper with Churchill. Scotch and sodas fueled two hours of poring over maps and talking strategy before Churchill gave his blessing—Pan Am would organize a ferrying and military supply operation across Africa. Churchill would cable Roosevelt and Trippe should expect to hear from the president when he landed in New York.

When a Clipper returned Trippe to New York a waiting Marine Corps officer escorted him to another plane that whisked him to Washington. Although Churchill and Roosevelt regularly corresponded by letter and telegram, the apparently serendipitous nature of the midnight brainstorming between the airline executive and prime minister is revealed in Roosevelt’s first question to Trippe when he was ushered into the Oval Office: “What did you tell the Prime Minister?”4

Four months later, Life magazine took readers into Trippe’s office on the 58th floor of New York’s Chrysler Building. Writer Noel Busch described the squeak of a giant world globe as Trippe turned it, measuring with parcel string a new airway from Brazil’s eastern hump to the African ports of Monrovia, Bathurst, Freetown, and Leopoldville. “By the time President Roosevelt was ready to talk plans for running a Pan American service across the South Atlantic to the Sudan, Trippe had already issued instructions for installing it,” Busch revealed. “Trippe’s latest display of his ability to transfer an extra hemispheric enterprise from blueprints to blue water on short notice was characteristic.” The article’s headline added: “Young Chief Helps Run A Branch Of U.S. Defense.”5

Time magazine observed the airline’s 1941 annual report “read like a military communiqué,” and Pan Am was “an instrument of U.S. policy and a weapon of global war.”6 Trippe wrote in the report, “That Pan American today is able to serve the United Nations throughout the world, is due in large measure to the fourteen years of pioneering and scientific progress which have gone into the development of its facilities and the training of its personnel.”7 To the public those fourteen years, encompassing the existence of what was considered the world’s greatest airline, were not about wartime exigencies but the miracle of commercial aviation.

Once upon a time, an airplane passing overhead made people stop and stare; even fall to their knees in wonder. Powered flight unshackled terrestrial bonds, obliterated ancient barriers of time and space. An airplane spanned distances in hours and minutes that took weeks or days by land and water. More than any other airline, Pan Am made that miracle a reality.

The “System,” as Pan Am called itself, fulfilled the promise of air travel with style, serving up winged adventure with cocktails and gourmet meals. Within twelve years of its birth, Pan Am encircled the Caribbean and South America, conquered the oceans, boasted 65,000 miles of air routes serving fifty-five countries, and made its four-engine Clipper seaplanes a fixture of the skies. Pan Am was America’s first and only international airline and sole possessor of the technology, infrastructure, and procedures to safely and systematically fly the oceans. By 1939, when Pan Am inaugurated commercial transatlantic flights, a print advertisement proclaimed: “It is a small world . . . by Pan American.” The ad observed that the world had essentially shrunk, thanks to speedy flying Clippers binding together formerly distant lands. “Think what this change signifies . . .,” the ad rhetorically asked. “It means a new American leadership in this changing world! Those Flying Clippers are America’s Merchant Marine of the Air. They are recapturing, on international trade routes, a prestige that has been lost to this country since the days of sail.” The ad practically proclaimed that Pan Am was spearheading America’s global interests.

Pan Am’s status as “instrument of the nation” was hinted at in news describing how the airline out-maneuvered a competitor or negotiated its latest exclusive air agreement with a foreign power.8 What was not generally reported was that Pan Am’s stunning rise was promoted and facilitated by power brokers from Washington to Wall Street. By World War II, Pan Am was key to the strategic maneuvering of America and its allies.

Trippe and Arnold represented the dual forces shaping aviation since the first rickety winged gliders took flight—Trippe saw commercial potential, Arnold a weapon of war. Aviation’s ability to overcome natural barriers convinced Arnold that foreign military air powers would one day fly across the two oceans that still seemed insurmountable bulwarks guarding the nation’s coastlines, with those imagined enemy aircraft commanding the air space as it penetrated the vulnerable interior. Even the international expansion of commercial aviation, when operating under the flag of a hostile nation, posed a threat—and such an enterprise was operating in the hemisphere. And so, with his strategic military intuition, early flying experience, and a still uncommon grasp of the practical applications of the airplane—both among the general public and military planners—Hap Arnold formed Pan American Airways in the interests of national security.
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In the summer of 1909, Hap Arnold was a twenty-three-year-old second lieutenant, two years out of West Point and heading home after a tour of duty in the Philippines. During a stopover in Paris, he saw his first airplane dramatically suspended on display over a street near the Place de L’Opéra—the monoplane of Louis Blériot, the first powered aircraft to fly the English Channel, a feat accomplished a few weeks previous. The “queer contraption,” Arnold recalled, was “the forerunner of a human instrument that, for good or evil, in war and peace, was to change the face of the earth.

“I’ll confess I hadn’t any blinding vision of the future of Air Power at this moment, but one thought I did have was probably as good as anybody else’s who looked at Blériot’s plane that summer. I thought: ‘If one man could do it once, what if a lot of men did it together at the same time? What happens then to England’s Splendid Isolation?’ ”9

Arnold returned to New York in time to witness an exhibition of powered flight at the Hudson-Fulton Celebration marking the 300th anniversary of Henry Hudson’s discovery of the river that bore his name, and the recent centennial of Robert Fulton’s navigation of it by steamship in 1807. Among those marveling at the seminal aviation event was ten-year-old Juan Trippe. The boy and the soldier didn’t know each other then, but the exhibition inspired their respective visions of aviation and sparked the passion that created Pan Am.

The Celebration Commission had fifty-one committees, including one to showcase “aerial locomotion.” The Celebration report observed, “there was something peculiarly striking, even dramatic, in the thought that in a commemoration which recalled the days when the Hudson River was navigated only by canoes, and which celebrated the advent of Hudson’s sailing vessel and Fulton’s steamboat, the climax of three centuries of progress should be marked by the navigation of the river—or a part of it—by airships.”10

The aviation star was Wilbur Wright. There had been lighter-than-air flights in hot air balloons that floated on air as a sailing ship floated on water. But flight in heavier-than-air flying machines, such as winged airplanes and gliders, depended on airflow over its surfaces for aerodynamic lift and upward thrust. In 1903, a motorized airplane designed and built by brothers Wilbur and Orville Wright lifted above the sand dunes of Kitty Hawk, North Carolina. It was the first recorded flight in a mechanically powered, heavier-than-air machine successfully flown and controlled by an onboard pilot. Six years later, the Celebration was showcasing Wright as a master of aerial locomotion. The Celebration’s takeoff and landing field was Governor’s Island, a military base across from Battery Park between Staten Island and Brooklyn to which Hap Arnold reported. Arnold later called Governor’s Island New York’s first “airport.”11

Wilbur Wright made his first flying attempt the morning of September 29. His Model A Flyer was rolled from its shed and placed on a monorail facing due west to New York Harbor. A red canoe was strapped to the bottom as a lifeboat in case the aircraft crashed into the water. Wright lifted almost one hundred feet into the air, covered two miles, and spent seven minutes and ten seconds aloft as steam whistles of ships and nearby factories echoed cheering spectators ringing the shoreline and crowds on ship decks in the harbor. Wright made four successful flights that day, his last a spectacular trip up the Hudson and back covering almost twenty miles and lasting thirty-three minutes and thirty-three seconds in the air.

But his second flight was the most celebrated. At 10:18 a.m., Wright ventured over open water, aiming for Bedloe Island and the Statue of Liberty. He flew over the Lusitania, which was bound for England, as passengers on deck cheered and waved handkerchiefs.12 As Wright made it to the Statue of Liberty, Juan Trippe and his father watched from Battery Park.

Charles White Trippe suspected his boy would be thrilled. Aviation fascinated Juan, and he had made a wooden model airplane with a three-foot wingspan that he propelled with elastic bands during outings in Central Park. (Orville also traced the Wright’s aviation interest to a childhood toy, a rubber band driven helicopter from their father.)13 It was said that Juan saw The Future as he watched Wright circle the Statue of Liberty.

The Celebration record alluded to aviation’s military possibilities. Indeed, aviation’s military and commercial potential were already entwined. The U.S. Army began studying the “flying machine” in August of 1907. On February 10, 1908, the Wrights signed a contract with the War Department to develop a military plane. The first known fatality in American aviation occurred during its development when Army Lieutenant Thomas L. Selfridge died in a crash with Orville, who was severely injured. Despite that setback, on August 2, 1909, just before the Hudson-Fulton Celebration, the Wright warplane was accepted.14

The Wrights trained the first two military pilots for the War Department—one was Hap Arnold, who had received a War Department letter asking if he was willing. Arnold’s commanding officer thought the idea suicide, which emboldened the young officer. On April 21, 1911, Arnold and second lieutenant Thomas Milling, 15th Cavalry, left New York by train for the Wright factory in Dayton, Ohio.15

The Wrights shared knowledge and hospitality, inviting their two students to join them for Sunday dinners. “They never took themselves half so seriously as we took them,” Arnold recalled. “Still, to Milling and me, sitting at their Sunday dinner table and listening to their quiet stories[,] what they had done was a miracle. . . . Without any formal scientific training whatever, two ‘ordinary’ young Americans from an ordinary town in the state of Ohio had not only grasped and advanced the whole known science of aerodynamics—they had become its admitted masters, even more appreciated in Europe than at home. . . . More than anyone I have ever known or read about, the Wright brothers gave me the sense that nothing is impossible.”16

Milling and Arnold emerged as the first qualified pilots in the U.S. Army. In the summer of 1911, Arnold flew five miles to deliver a satchel of letters in Long Island, making him one of the first U.S. airmail pilots. All the while, Arnold gained experience of aviation’s peril and potential.17 “All those early aviators knew more than they could tell anybody,” Arnold later mused. “But what was it they knew, or knew they didn’t know? Things happened, that was all. The air was a tricky place. The best laws, discovered and formulated by the best aeronautical brains, could still be upset, it seemed, in a second.”18

By the summer of 1914, the Hudson-Fulton Celebration’s dream of a glorious future ended with World War I. After the Armistice, America’s military establishment ignored aviation’s advancement in favor of warships and the security of two great oceans, while commercial aviation favored war surplus aircraft. In Europe, aviation was vital to recovery. Governments invested in national airlines, while defeated Germany saw commercial and military advantages in an air industry.

American air power advocates, led by Brigadier General Billy Mitchell, leader of American Air Forces in World War I, saw synergy in commercial and military aviation. “Air power is a composite of airplanes, air crews, maintenance crews, air bases, air supply, and sufficient replacements in both planes and crews to maintain a constant fighting strength,” Hap Arnold explained. “In addition to that, we must have the backing of a large aircraft industry in the United States to provide all kinds of equipment, and a large training establishment that can furnish the personnel when called upon.”

In 1923, the State Department directed the War Department to make a survey flight through Central America to consider landing fields and potential airmail service to the strategic Panama Canal Zone.19 The resulting “Central American Flight” led by Major Raycroft Walsh on February 4, 1924, affirmed U.S. airmail service was viable.20 The Post Office Department sent a representative to make a firsthand determination, but as Assistant Secretary of State Francis White recalled, “The man sent was extraordinarily lacking in vision; he went to the Canal Zone and to Port [Limón] in Costa Rica and then abandoned his trip saying he could see no future in the matter whatsoever.”21

Meanwhile, a German airline was profitably operating in Colombia—too near the Canal for Arnold’s comfort. He resolved to block foreign airlines by forming “Pan American Airways,” a commercial airline whose name spoke to his stratagem of hemispheric security. By then, the boy who marveled at Wright’s Hudson-Fulton flight had grown up into a leader of the air industry taking root in New York City.
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Juan Trippe was raised in New York City but born in Seabright, New Jersey, on June 27, 1899. The son of Charles Trippe and Lucy Adeline Terry, he was named for his mother’s stepfather, Juan Pedro Terry, the Cuban-born son of a wealthy Irish-Venezuelan.

Juan’s life had just begun but two months later came within a hairsbreadth of ending. It was late August at Charles and Lucy’s summer residence in Seabright, and a happy gathering of Lucy and her sisters included a horse-driven surrey ride. Juanita and Louise Terry and three-year-old brother Charles were in the front seats, with Juan, his nurse Louise Farr, and mother in the rear. Louise was holding the reins as they traversed the notorious North Borough railroad crossing, a gateless bend that concealed approaching trains—including the West End Express that was upon them, reportedly without a warning whistle, before Louise could lash on the two-horse team. The collision cut the surrey in half, instantly killing the horses and those in the front, hurtling the sheared rear section into a ditch.

“Three Killed by a Train: Son and Sisters-in-Law of Charles W. Trippe Dead at Seabright: No Warning At The Crossroads,” read The New York Times front-page headline. Infant Juan, his mother, and nurse were injured but survived. The Times described the crossing as “one of the most dangerous in this vicinity” and the scene of several accidents in recent years. Lucy, found unconscious, was initially spared knowledge of her son and sisters’ deaths for fear the shock would kill her. “There was much excitement in the village to-night,” the newspaper reported, “and much indignation was expressed by the citizens over the failure of the railroad to place gates or a guard at this dangerous crossing . . . the matter will be thoroughly investigated.”

The psychological impact on an infant, with or without conscious memory, of such a violent accident and heartbreaking loss cannot be determined. And while little spoken of in the years ahead, the incident was certainly made known to Juan.

Not long after the horrific tragedy, Lucy inherited over $190,000 of the Terry fortune. Charles, a Columbia engineering school graduate who had worked for railroads and the New York Health Department, became a Wall Street investment banker, forming Trippe & Company and buying a seat on the New York Stock Exchange. Notwithstanding a brief stint in the world of finance after college, Juan Trippe would make a firm decision not to follow his father into a comfortable Wall Street career. By then he had already accepted personal risk as an active pilot and would seek his destiny and fortune in the skies, pinning his future to the still embryonic notion that aviation could be shaped into a world-changing enterprise.

Pan Am historian Robert Daley, who spent considerable time with Trippe in his later years, might have hit upon a deeper truth in his offhand observation, “Trippe seems to have been an extremely fatalistic young man, as far as his safety was concerned.”22

As a young man, Juan was a daydreamer with a sharp and inquiring mind. He also had a sense of patriotism and duty—a great, great uncle, John Trippe, had been a decorated naval officer who fought pirates in the Mediterranean and was the namesake of four naval ships.

By the time Juan enrolled at Yale in 1917, he was a husky six-footer and played right tackle on the freshman football team. He was renowned as a ferocious hitter with an Iron Man reputation for never being taken out of a game. Football embodied an American ethos of competition, a crucible where one’s mettle was tested and success awaited the winner—and Juan Trippe liked to win. It was said, “[Trippe’s] idea of the offense was—kill the other guy.”23

The First Yale Unit, a flying club, nourished Juan’s passion for aviation. Nicknamed “The Millionaires’ Unit” because of their privileged backgrounds, they preferred being called “The Unit.” “It was, in fact, a group of young men unified by an idea, fused together by an eager purpose, and steadfastly adhering to a conception of service,” a Unit history noted.24 By March of 1917, Yale provided immediate leaves of absence for students entering the military—the Unit was at the forefront of volunteers. “The fact that [First Unit volunteers] goes today to New London to be sworn into the Naval Reserve and is anticipating orders to enter into intensive training soon, brings the seriousness of the situation home to the members of the University,” noted a Yale News editorial.25

On April 6, 1917, the U. S. declared war on Germany. A few hours after a satisfying 14-0 football victory over archrival Harvard, half the team resigned to join their classmates enlisting for the war.26 Trippe applied with the Navy and was one of the elite nine of fifty candidates selected for night bomber pilot training. Juan, commissioned as an ensign in the U.S. Naval Air Reserve, was awaiting orders to ship overseas when the Armistice arrived on November 11, 1918.

Trippe returned to Yale in December of 1918. Although he entered Yale with the Class of 1920, the eleven-month absence for military service delayed his graduation until 1921. During his return to the university, he helped revive the Yale Flying Club (formerly the Yale Aeronautical Association), where he served as treasurer and organized the first intercollegiate air meet, his teammates including future partners John Hambleton—a Harvard man!—and schoolmate Cornelius Vanderbilt “Sonny” Whitney.27 “Somewhere in the overlapping of the War and his college career, Mr. Trippe’s slow-moving eye turned skyward, and never again were his thoughts wholly earthbound,” Fortune magazine observed.28

Trippe bought a war surplus seaplane for $200 from a Philadelphia naval yard and commuted by air from East Hampton, where his family had a summer home, to New Haven, the home of Yale. He took off and landed from both spots at wooden ramps he built himself. The advantage of air travel was obvious—within minutes Juan reached areas that took a half-day or more by train or automobile. He developed practical experience over water, including flying high enough so in an emergency one could glide to a safe water landing.29 Trippe wanted to make air travel a business when America had no international air service, few domestic routes and airfields, and practically no infrastructure, much less pilots, engineers, mechanics, radiomen, capital investment, manufacturers, and government support.

When Juan was twenty-one, his father died from typhoid. An economic downturn forced his father’s firm into a reorganization that considerably reduced Juan’s inheritance, but there was still enough to launch his first air company. Several items Charles Trippe bequeathed became fixtures in his son’s future airline offices, notably a sturdy roll-top desk and a 19th-century Malby’s “colossus globe,” thirty-six inches in diameter, that put the world at Juan’s fingertips as he plotted global air routes. But the world came later.

Juan formed Long Island Airways (LIA) in 1923, raising eyebrows among his social set that assumed he would become a banker, like his father. Juan envisioned LIA as a chance to develop a business model for the aviation industry. “It was on Long Island Airways that he developed his style,” Pan Am’s corporate history notes. “[Trippe] figured out the nature of an ­airline—what sort of thing it really would have to be, what conditions it would need in order to live and grow.”30

Trippe was president, chief pilot, and sometime mechanic. The airline, a seasonal operation, had two full-time pilots, two reserve pilots, and seven naval surplus single engine Aeromarine pontoon bi-planes. The two-seater seaplane allowed for a pilot and passenger, but Juan ingeniously made an extra seat by making adjustments, including moving the gas tank from inside the fuselage to outside—now he could fly wealthy couples to the Hamptons, up the Hudson, even Albany and Lake Placid. An employee manning a motor launch at the foot of Wall Street on the East River went back and forth to a barge anchored near the Statue of Liberty, where LIA seaplanes stopped for passengers to board or disembark.31 LIA’s base and maintenance yard was an inactive naval air station at Rockaway Beach, a lonely hundred acres of salt marshes, lagoons, and islands with a view to a skyline dominated by the Woolworth Building. Trippe leased it “by benevolent permission of the Navy” for $100, and his agreement to keep four hangars freshly painted.32

When Trippe shut down for the winter of 1923–24, he began exploring the New York Public Library for what little there was on air transport. He set up appointments with transportation companies—ships, railroads, buses—that might provide a business model. Trippe burst into executives’ offices with enthusiasm, asking smart questions and disarming the older men he met with a photograph of his fleet at Rockaway. One was Thomas D. Mitten, who upgraded Philadelphia’s transport system from streetcars to buses and felt air travel was the future. Trippe contributed cost-accounting analysis to an aviation report Mitten co-authored with engineer William Stout and submitted to Secretary of Commerce Herbert Hoover, the future president Trippe would come to know.33

In its first two years, LIA earned about $40,000. A big slice, about two hundred hours and $12,000, came from the movie business in New York. Trippe’s last professional piloting job was a movie stunt, the kind of cocksure risk that would soon rattle the nerves of conservative air executives. The script for the forgotten production called for Trippe to fly down Broadway and over Battery Park to the Statue of Liberty—he flew so low a cameraman filming from a rooftop caught the tops of his wings. When Trippe returned to Rockaway, a policeman was waiting with a court summons. Trippe’s lawyer got the case dismissed—there was no law against “low flying.”34

LIA marked Trippe’s first visionary foray into other countries. When Trippe learned that United Fruit, which did considerable business in Central America, needed to make a three-day journey to Honduras’s capital for paperwork that finalized transactions, Juan used his Yale connections to meet with company executives and convince them he could deliver their paperwork within hours by plane. He made a similar proposal to logging interests in the Canadian wilderness. But Trippe knew long-term success depended upon a U.S. Post Office airmail contract, and it would take “a substantial company,” to get it and LIA, capitalized at only $5,000, was not that company. He closed LIA for good in 1924.35

With a strategy to win airmail contracts, Trippe incorporated his new airline, Eastern Air Transport, in Delaware on September 12, 1925. Trippe’s team included Lorillard Spencer, a wealthy World War I combat pilot, L. L. Odell, a transportation engineer, Robert Thach, a war flyer and Alabama lawyer, and Sherman Fairchild, whose interest was aerial photography. Trippe attracted other young aviation enthusiasts, many from Yale, including friends and flying partners C. V. Whitney and John Hambleton. Within two years, Trippe, Hambleton, and Whitney were hailed as “Pan American Airways’ Musketeers.”36

The connection to capital was Cornelius Vanderbilt “Sonny” Whitney, son and heir to the fabled fortunes of Gertrude Vanderbilt and Harry Payne Whitney. “C. V.,” as he was also known, was tall and handsome; a sportsman often dismissed as a polo-playing playboy who had “fatal blue eyes that are continually getting him in messes,” his mother lamented.37 Whether fate or those fatal blue eyes, his Yale years were marked by scandalous events. During Sonny’s sophomore year, while driving at dawn without a license, he crashed his Stutz Bearcat into a horse-drawn wagon, killing a friend on the passenger side. In his junior year, he faced a million-dollar paternity suit brought by a former Ziegfeld Follies dancer that persisted for a decade before being dismissed. Harry Whitney, upset by his son’s behavior, was determined to straighten him out. After Sonny graduated Yale in 1922, his father sent him to Nevada for a stint of hard work as an ore sampler at the family’s Comstock mine.38

But Whitney had the patriotic resolve for service. He registered at Yale in the fall of 1917, but left to enlist as an aviation cadet with the Army Signal Corps. He was commissioned a second lieutenant and became a combat and acrobatics instructor. The Armistice arrived before he saw combat.39

John A. Hambleton was two years older than Juan, and from a banking family with deep roots in Maryland (Hambleton & Company, Inc. was established in 1865). Hambleton’s lineage included a naval hero, and he had a passion for aviation, from piloting planes to helping found Maryland’s Air National Guard. Hambleton believed that military service and the war would be waiting for him. In February of 1917, after one semester at Harvard, he enlisted in the Aviation section of the Army Signal Corps and by October was sailing for Europe, where he flew under Brigadier General Billy Mitchell in France.

Trippe, Hambleton, and Whitney were of that generation shaped by the Great War and among the first air warriors, qualities that characterized the spirit of the commercial airline that military airman Hap Arnold would form. “There was a sense of both [commercial] flight and military flight, of the white knight’s code of honor,” reflected George Hambleton, John’s son and a Pan Am executive. “It seems that is important to the mindset that formed Pan Am.”40

C. V. Whitney once noted another attribute characteristic of those who built the world’s greatest airline: “We were born to the air.”41
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BORN TO THE AIR

“For hardship, disappointment, drama, and suspense, this 1919–27 era of civil aviation equals any that followed. It was the anvil on which the lives, characters, and skills of these very young civil aviation founders were forged . . . Trippe, Whitney, Hambleton were all [very young] in 1925. . . . [Their] old letters come alive with the eagerness, impatience, changing goals, and energy of youth—and no less, its inexperience and sometimes its naiveté. But where could one have gained experience? There was none.”

—JOHN C. LESLIE, PAN AM EXECUTIVE1

Commander Billy Mitchell later recalled April 1918 as a time when “air fighting was continuous and sharp” against German forces in the Metz area of northeastern France. During this period, a second lieutenant named John Hambleton “came forcibly to my notice,” Mitchell added.

Hambleton left the Toul airdrome in command of a patrol of five airplanes, and Mitchell was on the field when three returned. As they landed and taxied to their assigned positions, Mitchell noticed each plane was ripped with bullet holes. The right body strut of the patrol leader’s aircraft was almost shot away, and Hambleton himself had bullet fragments lodged in his head and shoulders. He coolly reported that superior forces attacked his patrol, they had lost two of their own but shot down three enemy aircraft, and he then led the survivors home. “In spite of the intensity of the combat he had been in this young officer made one of the best reports of the patrol that I ever heard,” Mitchell recalled. “From that time on he distinguished himself in every operation. He became a flight commander, a squadron commander and soon would have been a commander of a group of one hundred airplanes [if the war hadn’t ended].”2

Hambleton was a lieutenant with the 95th Aero Squadron in the spring of 1918, and part of Mitchell’s air attack at Saint-Mihiel. It was the biggest coordinated use of airplanes in a military operation—1,481 planes flying 3,300 sorties that included observation flights, strafing, and bombing runs—and cleared the way for American ground troops at the Meuse-Argonne offensive.3 Hambleton was eventually given command of the 95th, before leaving to command the 213th Squadron.

Harold Buckley, who flew alongside Hambleton in the 95th, attested to his bravery and leadership, observing that while under his command “there were none of us brought down.” His commander always went into battle with a strategy, and he explained: “According to pre-arranged tactics, if we had an opportunity, he was to attack and I was to stay above, to guard him from a surprise attack from other planes. . . . The next occasion would be my turn; he would stay above and protect me.” Buckley gave an example: “[A]fter some maneuvering, John gave me the signal and dove down on five Fokkers, shot down the end man with his very first burst, swung off and rejoined me and we made a get away [sic], being ten or so miles in Germany and well satisfied.”4

Hambleton’s greatest friendship from the war was Merian C. Cooper, a fellow air warrior similarly born to the air. Cooper recalled it was Christmas Eve, 1917 when his new friend talked about aviation’s future. “I realized then—1917—that I was talking with a rare visionary genius, though an eminently practical one.” After the Armistice, Hambleton returned home “on fire with the idea that man would eventually span the oceans by air, and with the direct idea of playing a part in the future of the then unknown civil aviation,” Cooper explained.5

Cooper barely survived the war. He flew the American DH-4 Liberty plane, bitterly known as the “flaming coffin.” The morning of September 26, 1918, returning from a bombing mission over Dun-sur-Meuse that began the Meuse-Argonne offensive, Fokkers attacked Cooper’s squadron. During the furious dogfight, Cooper’s cockpit burst into flames, his rear observer, Edmund Leonard, was wounded, and their bullet-riddled aircraft went into a flaming tailspin. Cooper opened the throttle, sucking out the flames, and miraculously coasted to a rough landing—near a German infantry camp. The Fokker that downed them landed nearby and the pilot got out—handsome and clean-cut, the spitting image of a flying ace in his crisp uniform bedecked with medals—and strode over. To the surprise of Cooper and Leonard the German pilot saluted them, followed by young soldiers rushing from the nearby camp to provide aid and comfort.

Cooper and Leonard would heal in different hospitals and prison camps until the whole bloody business ended with the Armistice. They were blessed, or damn lucky—the faulty Liberty plane and its architects would be singled out for scathing rebuke in General Mitchell’s postwar air power crusade. Mitchell would declare that more Americans died from flying Liberty planes than from the guns of German pilots.6

Hambleton was one of those whose spirit was forged, not extinguished, in combat. Reporter Gerald W. Johnson wrote in 1929: “The average man came back tougher, coarser, more cynical, all-around meaner than he was before: but in a vast number of cases he also came back stronger, wiser, far more resourceful and more enduring. John A. Hambleton came back full of energy and ideas, able and willing to take the lead in a great pioneering enterprise, the development of commercial aviation in America.”7

Hambleton returned to his family estate in the Green Spring Valley of Baltimore with the rank of colonel and honors including the Croix de Guerre and the Distinguished Service Cross with Oak Leaf Cluster. He took up investment banking but contemplated commercial aviation. In the spring of 1922, Cooper met Hambleton at Flat Rock, North Carolina (across the state from his sweetheart Margaret “Peg” Blow’s hometown of Wilmington), to discuss a domestic airline’s ideal organization and a potential American-owned foreign airline.8

On December 3, 1924, John married Margaret, the daughter of George Blow Elliott, president of the Atlantic Coast Line Railway. The couple took a five-month honeymoon cruise to Italy, Egypt, and ports in China, Japan, and Hawaii. Hambleton faithfully recorded each day’s happenings in his diary, from the wonder of the Pyramids to a stomach ailment his bride picked up in Agra that required medical attention and persisted for months.

On May 2, they returned, docking in Seattle. The Hambletons took the West Coast Limited to the East Coast and the family home affectionately known as “Hambledune.” John continued the ritual of recording, in his cramped handwriting, daily events in his palm-sized diary. His 1925 diary recorded a milestone year during which he joined his aviation dreams with those of Juan Trippe and saw a reckoning in Mitchell’s controversial crusades for air power and against war profiteering. On May 8, the day after returning to Hambledune, Hambleton visited his old commander. “Found Mrs. Mitchell at home, but general [was] out exercising horses,” he wrote. “They are both optimistic about the outcome of the controversy.”9

Hambleton took a train to Washington on May 29, where he met with General George Pershing, heard a lecture from Major Raycroft Walsh on the “Hawaiian Maneuvers,” a test of coordinated defense of the Pearl Harbor naval base, and visited the Mitchells. Hambleton also huddled with Major Walter G. Kilner, who agreed he would “have Sen. [William C.] Bruce write Secretary of the Navy stressing my interest in commercial aviation.”10

The year’s aviation breakthrough was the Contract Air Mail Act of 1925. Known as the Kelly Act after its chief sponsor, Congressman M. Clyde Kelly, Republican from Pennsylvania, it allowed private firms to bid for domestic contracts with the government. Trippe began working with Kelly to develop international airmail legislation.11 But for the present, the prize was Air Mail Route No. 1, the potentially lucrative New York–Boston route.

Trippe’s Eastern Air Transport was the “substantial company” he knew could make a powerful bid. He persuaded Hambleton, Whitney, and Bill Vanderbilt to put $25,000 each into Eastern, and added William Rockefeller to his board. The other contender was Colonial Airlines, led by such establishment figures as Connecticut Governor John Trumbull. The two rivals merged—reportedly, the U.S. Post Office considered the twenty-six-year-old Trippe too young to be responsible for a major airmail route.

On October 5, Trippe changed his company name to Colonial Air Transport (CAT), and two days later, after merging with Trumbull’s outfit, the new airline was awarded Air Mail Route No. 1. Although agreeing to operate under Trumbull’s corporate structure, Trippe got both parties to accept Colonial Air Transport as the corporate name, with himself as managing director. Trippe successfully argued that with the combined board numbering more than thirty, it would be efficient to form a seven-member voting trust. Trippe’s side included himself, Hambleton, and Rockefeller. Trippe had to win over one vote to hold a majority, but that would prove more difficult than he imagined.12

Colonial Air Transport was headquartered in Manhattan, at the southeast corner of Madison Avenue and 42nd Street. The airline had three airplanes, two full-time pilots (including Bert Acosta, a future member of Richard Byrd’s aerial expeditions), and two reserve pilots. The industry was converting from war surplus to modern aircraft, and at this point, Trippe “gave the signal to his wealthy [Yale] classmates, and said that aviation could someday be a business,” Pan Am’s corporate history records.13

As with his first company, Trippe considered Colonial a lab for developing a business model for the industry. “What sort of animal would [the aviation industry] be—would it be closer to a railroad, an international shipping line, a telephone system?” Trippe mused. “We kept our books, [payrolls], time charts. All these things were gotten right out of the bus and railroad formulas. It was trying to get a business-man’s approach to what someday could be done with an airplane as a coming vehicle of transportation.”14 But as Trippe pored over mail service contracts for railroads and bus companies he realized each was “a local enterprise.” As he noted, “It wasn’t small thinking—there had been no precedent.”15

On October 8, Hambleton went to New York to meet Bob Thatch, who was now part of the newly merged CAT. Hambleton’s diary indicates it was the first he heard of the new company, although he was becoming deeply involved. “It appears [Thatch] is one of a group behind Eastern Airway and Colonial . . . who have originated Boston[–]New York feeder line. He wants me to take hold of the southern hub.”16

The next day, Hambleton was driven to the airplane manufacturing plant in Hasbrouck Heights, New Jersey, recently established by Anthony Fokker, the Dutch aviation pioneer in prewar Germany who produced the fighter planes that bore his name. Waiting at Fokker’s factory was L.L. Odell, an original member of Eastern Air Transport. “He impressed me favorably,” Hambleton noted. He also met Fokker and was impressed with his aircraft: “Their three[-]engined ship is a corker.”17 The Fokker Tri-Motor, the first introduced in America, was a welcome advance for those distrustful of ­single-engine aircraft.

On October 13, Hambleton met Odell and Trippe at Thach’s office to discuss expansion, notably “the southern hub.” “They both feel that it would be foolish to begin operations on a Washington to Miami run but feel Jacksonville is far enough north to start from,” Hambleton noted. “Finally both showed considerable interest that their group would probably be interested in going 50-50 on such a line.” They were thinking big. A foothold in Florida would open up Cuba, the Caribbean, Central America—an October 15, 1925, document apportioning Eastern Air Transport stock mentions a Key West–Havana route.18

Trippe telephoned Hambleton on October 15 to report his group would go half on a Jacksonville to Miami run, at $300,000. That day, with “new figures and proposed schedules” for the prospective air link in hand, Hambleton and an associate caught the Havana Special train to Jacksonville for a research tour of the Florida Keys. Jacksonville was home to Merian Cooper’s family, and Hambleton visited Merian’s brother, a future Pan Am executive. “Called on Mr. John Cooper, Jr. who was very much interested in a seaplane line from a development he is interested in to Miami,” Hambleton recorded. “It might have possibilities.”19

The next day, before dawn, Hambleton and his associate drove a narrow brick road to St. Augustine. Hambleton made a bemused diary entry on real estate developments and “people’s gullibility.” They passed “Picture City,” a sprawling movie studio development, Palm Beach, and Hollywood. In Miami Beach, Hambleton marveled at swamps being drained, new land emerging, tall buildings rising. “Development was almost continuous,” he wrote.20 The next morning, he was up before dawn and driving in pouring rain. It was still raining when he reached Tampa and met the mayor and city officials. “They are ready to begin an airdrome & want an engineer to build it for them,” Hambleton noted. “Wired Thatch to advise him.”21

Back at Hambledune, Hambleton met with Trippe and Odell on October 27 to draw up a “tentative set up” for a Florida airway. “We agreed that a line to carry passengers was the only profitable proposition to undertake in [Florida] at the moment and that we would have to have a record of operation before attempting to actually carry passengers,” Hambleton recorded. That meeting was followed by a luncheon with aircraft manufacturer Harold Pitcairn to discuss his investing in their aviation ventures, including the proposed Florida line.22 Hambleton met with Major General Mason Patrick, chief of the Army Air Corps, about “getting [Wall] Street to work on [Colonial] Airways.” Major General Patrick replied that it was against policy for officers to be involved in a commercial venture and required the approval of the Secretary of War.23 Pitcairn dropped out, but Hambleton had better luck with Milton Elliott, son of his father-in-law, the president of the Atlantic Coast Line Railroad. The coordination of rail and air connections would be a cornerstone of Pan Am’s future network.24

Trippe’s faction wanted Colonial to upgrade its fleet to the big three-­engine Fokkers. Anthony Fokker told Trippe he was unwilling to send one of his planes to Florida unless they committed to an order.25 There were rivals for a Florida line—on November 13, Hambleton noted a meeting with “Robertson” (possibly Major William Bryan Robertson, cofounder of Robertson Aircraft Corporation), who began talking about his own prospectus for a Florida airline. “I told him I was a competitor & to watch his step as I was competing,” Hambleton wrote. That day, at noon, Trippe, Thatch, and Odell met with Hambleton to discuss his idea for purchasing Fokker planes. “[I] made Odell a proposition to buy present ship @ $20,000 & agree to buy a new one for $35,000, part of purchase price to be old machines,” Hambleton recorded. “Odell did not like it. Thatch is favoring a syndicate instead of a corporation.”26

On November 23, Hambleton, Trippe, and Odell met with Fokker and one of his sales managers. “We thrashed the matter [of buying planes] back & forth & finally agreed that Fokker was to make a trip down on Dec. 5th for 10 days,” Hambleton wrote. If everything broke right, an order would be placed for the delivery of two ships in ninety days. “Trippe & I talked all afternoon & I feel very much encouraged about the whole thing.”27

The new Fokker, considered the first true transport plane built in America, came with an eye-popping price tag of $37,500, “a large sum in the days when airplanes were uninsured,” historian Matthew Josephson reported.28 To the consternation of Colonel’s cautious and conservative board, Trippe had gone ahead and placed an order with Fokker. “They were a bunch of old fogies,” Trippe recalled.29 The board became further alarmed with the news Fokker would promote his trimotored plane that December with a visit that included a survey flight to Cuba, where Trippe planned to petition President Gerardo Machado for air rights to Havana. The Fokker F-7 survey would be flown by navy flier George Ponds, with passengers Trippe, Fokker, John and Margaret Hambleton, Robert Thatch, and others boarding at various stages.

A key member of Trippe’s survey was aviation industry publicist Harry Bruno. It was “a giant publicity stunt,” recalled Bruno. “The real function of the flight was very neatly summed up in the orders I received from Juan Trippe himself: ‘Build up public acceptance for the Fokker planes.’” It was all done “in grand style,” Bruno added. Earlier in the year, Trippe had met Bruno, a go-getter who contended bad publicity might be avoided, even in the aftermath of a plane crash, if “properly handled.” Bruno also had a visionary suggestion for Trippe: “One way to ‘sell’ the safety of air travel to the American people is to reach them through the medium of the motion picture.” Bruno’s concept of promoting air travel through moving pictures would be realized in movie newsreels and in advertisements broadcast on the future medium of television. Of course, the thrill of aviation was already being dramatically displayed on movie screens in dramas such as magician Harry Houdini’s 1919 The Grim Game, which filmed an unplanned accident as two stunt planes spectacularly collided in mid-air (and miraculously made rough, but safe, landings). Pan Am insider Merian Cooper, who would forge a career as a filmmaker and Hollywood producer, captured the romance and wonder of flight in Flying Down to Rio, a 1933 RKO feature hailed as “A Musical Extravaganza Staged in The Clouds” (which includes Cooper’s unheralded but historic pairing of dancer Fred Astaire with the little-known Ginger Rogers).30

The survey began with a layover at Bolling Field in Washington, allowing Hambleton’s influential friends and acquaintances to tour the aircraft, including Air Corps chief Major General Patrick and Major General James Fechet, assistant chief of the Air Corps. The flight’s publicity campaign got its desired headlines in Jacksonville: “Ten-Passenger Liner Reaches City at 10:40: Thousands See Huge Ship Skim Over City,” read the Jacksonville Journal headline. “The flight was a revelation of the high degree of safety and comfort to which airplane designing and manufacturing has been developed,” the paper reported. The cabin was “equipped as luxuriously as the finest yacht,” with carpeting, an aisle separating cushioned wicker chairs, “ash receivers” fastened to the walls for smokers, and framed photographs of Fokker’s European factories. The paper was too modest to mention the onboard toilet. Pond told the paper the flight had been “handicapped” by delays due to rain, winds, and fog, but bad weather otherwise had little effect.31

The pilot didn’t mention the delays included one engine going out, and then another, followed by an emergency landing near Key West. Minutes before impact, Margaret Hambleton was hustled into the toilet, considered the safest spot. “We came down on one of the mangrove-covered keys, blew out our tires, and damaged the fuselage and wings, but were only jarred ourselves,” Trippe recalled.32 Margaret remembered coming down in a cornfield, but agreed they were none the worse for it: “Juan Trippe began laughing and shaking his head, so we joined in, and it all seemed a glorious joke when we . . . were picked up . . . in a very ramshackled Ford car.”33 (The Colonial board wasn’t laughing when Trippe argued the multiple engines allowed them to glide to a safe landing.)34

A special flight for Tampa’s mayor and guests resulted in glowing comments of “amazement at the comfort and seeming safety of the trip,” the Tampa Telegraph reported on December 19, along with news that Tampa would probably be one of the terminal points.35 “Then, to cap the climax, the transport with Fokker and Trippe on board set a new record with a nonstop flight from Miami to Havana in 125 minutes,” Bruno recalled, adding that Trippe was “thinking of an airline from Key West to Havana.”36 The Hambletons disembarked in Miami, leaving Pond to fly Fokker and Trippe to Cuba. When they met the Cuban dictator, Trippe proposed a demonstration flight. Machado’s positive reaction would pay off later.

The Fokker was returning over the Keys when the left engine went out, and Pond aimed for what he hoped was a mud flat on Key Largo—it was a reef and blew both tires. This time there was no laughing as Trippe, Fokker, and Pond came ashore with the tide. According to historian Robert Daley, they lit a fire on railroad tracks to stop a train and catch a ride to Miami. Trippe recalled the plane sat on the beach for weeks until new engines arrived and it was repaired and flown back. Daley adds that the Fokker was sold and eventually flown by Richard Byrd on the first flight over the North Pole.37
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In 1926, Trippe met a twenty-four-year-old chief pilot for St. Louis–based Robertson Aircraft Corporation named Charles Lindbergh. Unlike most flyers, Lindbergh was interested in radio and direction-finding equipment. “I remember,” Trippe recalled, “that Lindbergh introduced himself to me and we began to review the ground triangular radio equipment which had just been developed for us by Hugo Leuteritz, a young radio engineer of R.C.A., and which we were using. Lindbergh was intrigued by the fact that the U.S. Navy dirigible ‘Los Angeles’ had been permitted to help calibrate our Air Mail Route No. 1.” Lindbergh, Trippe added, “was extremely interested in any new developments in the primitive radio and direction-­finding equipment of those days.”38

Trippe and Hambleton wanted Colonial Air Transport to be a domestic and international airline. A key ally was Hambleton’s childhood friend David Bruce, who married into the family of Treasury Secretary Andrew W. Mellon. Through Bruce’s intercession, Mellon facilitated introductions to everyone from Secretary of Commerce Hoover to Secretary of State Frank Kellogg and the president. “I met Coolidge quite a few times,” Trippe recalled. “Mellon would take me there. We would get in that little private elevator and go over there [Coolidge’s office].”39

Bruce arranged a meeting between Trippe and Assistant Postmaster General W. Irving Glover. It didn’t hurt that Trippe arrived with the backing of Dwight Morrow, a J. P. Morgan partner and a major figure in aviation policy. Trippe enthusiastically reported to Hambleton that Glover was interested in activating the old but now dormant airmail route from Key West to Havana. “His attitude left no doubt in my mind but that he would cooperate with us to the utmost,” Trippe concluded.40 Trippe was on fire with ambition, a December 2, 1926, letter to Hambleton reporting, “. . . I personally persuaded Messrs Weicker, Rockefeller, Whitney, Fairchild, [Richard] Hoyt and others to invest. . . . Five years from now I will turn back ten dollars for every single dollar invested, or ‘bust’ in the attempt.”41

Trippe continued cultivating Yale connections that would aid the future Pan Am’s development. There was Assistant Secretary of State Francis White, whose responsibilities included being Chief of Latin American Affairs. First Yale Unit contacts included founder Frederick Trubee Davison, son of a partner in J. P. Morgan & Co., whose career posts included an appointment by President Hoover as the nation’s first Assistant Secretary of the Navy for Air. Another Unit star was David “Crock” Ingalls, the Navy’s only aerial ace who would serve as Assistant Secretary of the Navy under Coolidge and Hoover, and become a Pan Am executive. (Ingalls’s WW I missions included single-handedly destroying a German airdrome when he sprayed a balloon with tracer bullets and it burst into flames, collapsed on three hangars, and triggered an explosive fire.)42

In 1927 Trippe, Hambleton, and Whitney pursued their vision with a new airline. The Colonial board was content with Air Mail Route No. 1, but Trippe knew one route was not enough, given contracts under the Kelly Act lasted only four years. “I kept hearing that the New Haven Railroad had run successfully for years and why not Colonial,” Trippe recalled. “They said: Why rock the boat? The boat was winning the race and why take on more. It was an ultra-conservative point of view.”43
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By the mid-twenties, Major Hap Arnold, now an Army Air Service information officer in Washington, was reading disturbing reports from the U.S. military attaché in Colombia regarding Sociedad Colombo-Alemana de Transportes Aéreos, or SCADTA, a German-Austrian airline with a strategy for expanding airmail and passenger service throughout South America, Cuba, and into the United States. The airline, established in Colombia in 1919, was the first in South America and one of the world’s first successful airlines. Its seaplanes navigated the Magdalena River, which flowed north from the mountainous interior near Bogotá to the seaport of Barranquilla. Passenger fares were expensive but popular—rail and steamer could take weeks, but an airplane made the 650 miles from Barranquilla to Bogotá in seven hours. SCADTA owned its own post offices, set its own mail rates, pocketed all revenue from airmail stamps, and was securing monopoly concessions with other Latin American countries.44

Arnold met with Postmaster General Harry New and asked whether his office was legally obligated to grant the German airline an airmail contract. New replied that a contract would have to be awarded—unless another airline, ideally a U.S. company, could perform the service. Arnold headed to his office, took out a map, and began sketching an air route for a truly “pan” American airline. With planes limited in range, he had to consider geography. The most desirable gateway into Central America was the Caribbean Sea. Arnold envisioned flying from the western end of Cuba to the Yucatan Peninsula, down to Guatemala, British Honduras, Nicaragua, and to the Canal Zone and Panama.

Arnold drew up a prospectus with Major Carl Spaatz, Major Jack Jouett, and former naval officer John Montgomery. “It is not generally realized,” Arnold noted, “that that great international air line, Pan American Airways, was not started by any rich and powerful business combine, but actually was founded by three young Army officers and one ex-Navy officer without a dime between them.”45

They would have to play catch-up against the “mystery man” helming SCADTA. Dr. Peter Paul von Bauer was another of that special breed born to the air and a force to be reckoned with in the struggle for air supremacy of the Americas.
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CHAMPIONS OF AIR POWER

“There can no longer be any doubt that complete control of the air by any nation means military control of the world.”

—GENERAL BILLY MITCHELL1

When the Armistice arrived, the German pilot’s first thought was his standing orders to never surrender a plane—so he pulled the fuse of a charge to the fuel tank of his aircraft and blew it up. Returning from France, he saw burning and broken planes scattered throughout the Rhineland and Germany. “It seemed the end . . . a nightmare for those of us who loved flying,” he wrote. “It was worse, much worse, than all the dangers of war I had been through.” Most of the destruction of airplanes came after the Treaty of Versailles, often by a starving population desperate for firewood and the pittance they might get for scrap metal. The air warrior destroyed his plane out of duty; they were destroying planes out of desperation. “You couldn’t blame those people,” the pilot wrote. “And, anyhow, planes to them were the very symbol of war—which they hated above all.”2

The German pilot, writing under the alias Hauptmann Hermann, recalled innocent days when his college professor, aircraft manufacturer Hugo Junkers, told him: “The airplane will become a weapon of happy humanitarianism that will carry blessings to all people and all nations.” But soon after Germany’s defeat, government officials asked an outraged Junkers to design passenger planes that could be converted into bombers. Germany had begun its secret rearmament, and commercial aviation was key.

“There was also the very important task of matching development in military aviation abroad and of collecting intelligence—a task that in the beginning was almost entirely handled by [the commercial aviation] industry,” Hermann wrote. “Air traffic could be subsidized without running afoul of the Versailles treaty. Air traffic lines could train pilots without arousing suspicion, since they needed pilots. Through the channel of the airlines large amounts of money could go to industry without arousing suspicion. Airline companies could build transport planes (then still considered convertible into bombers), and could fly them at night—a procedure that would amount to training pilots as night bombers. In a word, airlines would be the perfect camouflaged set-up for secret air rearmament.”3

There was national pride and commercial potential in setting up an airline in South America, where air travel could overcome primitive roads, mountainous terrain, and jungles and rivers. With the lack of a U.S. international airline, a colossal market was open to foreign interlopers such as SCADTA. But while Europe was close to the east coast of South America by sea, by air the U.S. had the hemispheric advantage. “The route to North America was one continuous fly-way, with short hops and profitable stops,” Pan Am’s corporate history notes. “And so, by air, you could re-draw the political and commercial geography of the world—unhook the Latin American countries from Europe and attach them to North America. In fact, airmail to Latin America might make a bigger difference sooner than domestic U.S. airmail . . . airmail to South America would change trading conditions fundamentally.”4

But the U.S. had not legislated an international air capacity, nor negotiated reciprocal air agreements. “It was obvious from the outset,” a Pan Am document observed, “that an American-flag air transport service in Latin America could not be developed in competition with the air lines subsidized by European nations, unless the Government established a national policy of encouraging such a service by long-term airmail contracts or other financial assistance.”5

The airplane changed the rules of military strategy and national security, but most U.S. policymakers failed to see it. The architects of SCADTA saw the possibilities.
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During the war, Julius Klein, an observer in the German Air Corps, often held court in the officer’s mess, telling tales of his former life as an emerald prospector in Colombia and the wonders of the Magdalena River, describing it as the perfect airway for seaplanes. After the Armistice, some German airmen decided to create that imagined airway. Werner Kaemmerer, who came to Barranquilla to sell war surplus airplanes, began making trips to Germany to find better planes and crews for a potential airline in Colombia. He returned with two Junkers seaplanes, pilots Friedrich Fritz Hammer and Helmuth von Krohn, and aviation technician Wilhelm Schnurbusch, who had been developing torpedo planes at the German Navy’s aviation development center.6

By 1920, airmail service began when von Krohn, piloting a Junkers F-13, made a delivery from Barranquilla to Puerto Colombia. The all-metal mono­plane, with its closed cabin capable of carrying four passengers and two-­person crew, was better suited to the tropics than a rot-prone wood and fabric plane. Colombia’s steaming humidity still caused radiators to boil and engines to overheat, planes lost power, payloads had to be limited to attain lift. Schnurbusch experimented with big automobile radiators, extending wingspans to improve takeoffs, and adjusting pistons to provide full throttle at sea level.7

Dr. Peter Paul von Bauer arrived in Bogotá in time to lead the fledgling operation. “[von Bauer] saw very clearly the essentials of the geographic set-up—the long river leading straight in from the coast to near the capital city; the incredible time savings that could be offered,” notes Pan Am’s corporate history. “If Junkers or somebody could come up with an airplane of sufficient performance, here was an opportunity to create something quite new under the sun: an airline.”8

Von Bauer was born in 1888, second son of a wealthy Austrian with holdings in sugar beets and a sugar refinery. He attended the University of Munich, where he began studying engineering, but switched to geography, geology, and cartography. In 1911, he booked passage on a ship to Panama, gateway to his planned explorations of North and Central America. Onboard, he met Hamilton A. Rice, a Bostonian working for a British rubber company and headed to the nexus of Colombia, Venezuela, and Brazil to search for a new river passage to the port of Manaus. Von Bauer joined Rice’s expedition, a chance meeting and snap decision that turned into two years of adventure.9 They usually traveled by canoe, venturing into jungles where they encountered tribes untouched by the outside world. At one point, von Bauer was near death from fever, but took some sage, jungle-wise advice—drank massive quantities of aguardiente, the local moonshine. Whether youthful vigor, the parasite-killing properties of the intoxicating spirits, or a bit of both, he survived.10

Von Bauer completed his doctorate and returned to his exploration of Central America—and his destiny in Bogotá, where Austrian Consul Albert Tietjen facilitated Dr. von Bauer’s introductions to Kaemmerer’s team. A few days later, Tietjen proposed von Bauer as the airline’s European representative charged with adding amphibian planes through a swap of stock and planes with Hugo Junkers. Von Bauer personally put SCADTA on secure financial footing through a $100,000 deal with a Peruvian sugar concern that allowed him to buy a controlling interest, which he shared with his brother, Victor. Von Bauer shunned government subsidy and entered into an airmail contract with Colombia. The airline’s agency at Bogotá was in the shop of a hardware dealer who happened to be the German Consul. Customers sending airmail letters put them in chamber pots marked “Barranquilla” or “Europe.”11

In 1923, SCADTA proved its value. A joint land survey between Colombia and Venezuela to settle a boundary dispute stalled because of mountainous terrain, jungle, and Motilones Indians likely to greet intruders with poisoned darts. But within six weeks, SCADTA mapped 2,500 square miles by air. When the newly delineated border was found rich in minerals on the Colombian side, suspicious Venezuelans called in the French to check the data—they judged it “excellent.” The following year, during one of the perennial bank runs, SCADTA airlifted tons of vital currency from Medellín to Bogotá, avoiding weeks of risky land travel. The grateful government provided about $60,000 toward the purchase of a Dornier-Wal, an all-metal sesqui-plane flying boat designed by Dornier of Germany, whose planes were usually produced in Italy to circumvent the Versailles Treaty.12

Von Bauer captured the public’s imagination, promoting pilots as national heroes and advertising the wonder and comfort of air travel. In 1925, he led two amphibian planes on a historic survey of Central America—testament to its importance was that the U.S. granted permission to pass near to the Canal Zone via a specified airway. The benefits included a lucrative airmail proposal from Guatemala’s Minister of Development. The only hitch was Havana, where a plane needed a new engine and customs made it difficult to obtain (von Bauer suspected U.S. pressure). The survey proved the feasibility of air routes from Colombia to the Canal and throughout the region. Fortune magazine declared the survey “over the uncharted jungles of Central America” had been a “remarkable voyage.”13

Von Bauer traveled to New York for a fund-raising and diplomatic push through the summer of 1926. He formed a charter in Delaware for an “Inter-American Airways” and took meetings with President Coolidge and Postmaster General New to discuss a U.S. airmail contract. “As a matter of fact, Postmaster General New definitely told him that he would not give him a contract; that he would only give it to an American company using American planes and pilots,” recalled the State Department’s Francis White.14 But within a year, von Bauer would return to Washington with diplomatic muscle.

Meanwhile, other German airlines were emerging in Latin America. In 1924, the Kondor Syndikat was organized in Germany and began operating as a survey company in South America and the Caribbean. Its German-owned successor, Condor, was incorporated in Brazil in 1927. “This beginning of German air transport activity in Brazil is of considerable significance, for Brazil was to become the base of German airline operations throughout the continent—a logical development in view of its strategic position on any air route to Europe and its large German population,” historian William Burden explains. “Deutsche Lufthansa, the German government-owned combine which took over most of the multitudinous German air transport companies in 1926, had complete financial control of Condor almost from the first.” (The airline was identified as “Luft Hansa” until 1933 when it was thereafter referred to as “Lufthansa.”)15

Von Bauer claimed his airline was practically a private company, but in a 1929 historical background report to incoming Secretary of State Henry Lewis Stimson, Francis White wrote, “It appears . . . [von Bauer] is very close to the German Luft Hansa and, although he denies it, we have been credibly informed in the past that the Luft Hansa controls his operations.”16

Billy Mitchell was at the forefront of air power advocates warning of foreign airlines operating near the Panama Canal, as well as another world war that would be largely decided in the air. Mitchell never forgot the young flyers who went down in flames, victims of an unholy marriage of politicians and war profiteers he publicly damned as the “Air Trust.” Mitchell envisioned an autonomous air force and argued America was vulnerable to air attack—the oceans would not be a defense for long. He felt military and commercial aviation were linked and an international airline was vital to the nation’s strategic interests. Mitchell’s supporters included Hap Arnold, Colonel Hambleton, Major Carl Spaatz, and Captain Eddie Rickenbacker, America’s famed WW I flying ace.17

Mitchell hailed military officers who were advancing aviation, including Navy airman Lieutenant Commander Albert C. Read, who took the “Atlantic challenge” of British newspaperman Lord Alfred Northcliffe. On May 16, 1919, Read led three four-engine Navy Curtiss flying boats on the 1,300-mile stage from Newfoundland to the Azores. Two of Read’s group dropped out, one rescued at sea and the other making it to land. Read’s aircraft continued through a violent rainstorm, landed in the Azores, and flew the 800 miles to Lisbon, becoming the first to cross the Atlantic.18

By the early 1920s, the U.S. air industry was getting traction, but Mitchell’s air power campaign was complicating things. “After 1921 the aviation industry itself worked actively for Federal legislation and thereby revealed at a tender age its uniqueness among private enterprises,” a Federal Aviation Agency history wryly notes. “Congress’ reluctance to legislate on the matter stemmed largely from the controversy over aviation’s status in the Nation’s defense structure.”19

In July of 1921, Mitchell led a team of Army airmen off the Virginia coast to determine whether aerial bombing could sink a battleship. The demonstration was officially approved, but Mitchell disregarded advance words of caution from War Department “brass heads.” “Get into this thing, as if we had to sink an enemy ship attacking one of our ports,” Mitchell urged his team, who were armed with 2,000-pound bombs, not lighter bombs sanctioned by the Navy, and flew to higher than anticipated altitudes. To Army and Navy observers watching from the Henderson, the observation ship, it seemed impossible that airplanes could sink the anchored Ostfriesland, a 27,000-ton German ship employed for the demonstration. But one bomb wounded it in a spectacular explosion, and the airmen went for the kill.

As the great ship sank, one plane broke from the pack and made such a low arc over the Henderson the observers involuntarily ducked. As one witness recounted, “Billy Mitchell at the controls, leaned perilously far out of its cockpit, and waved his hand to the gasping crowd. . . . You could see his devilish grin under his goggles. Suddenly with a choppy military salute, he swerved about and tore off after his boys.”20
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PROPHET OF A NEW ERA

“Slim Lindbergh had a curious view of life and risk. And he loved flying. He loved it from the very beginning knowing, that as an aviator in the twenties, he could not expect to live very long. He once said that if he could survive ten years before he was killed, this would more than equal any ordinary lifetime.”

—JUAN TRIPPE1

The U.S. Navy was interested in the potential of airships and the U.S.S. Shenandoah was one of its prized dirigibles. The Navy scheduled a Shenandoah flight on September 3, 1925, but it was stormy that day. Commander Zachary Landowne argued that it was too dangerous, but the flight continued as ordered—the airship went down in the bad weather, crashing near Sharon, Ohio. A mob swarmed over the wreckage, scavenging for souvenirs where thirteen crewmen died, including Commander Landowne. Meanwhile, Hap Arnold’s friend, Navy Commander John Rodgers, along with his crew, was reported missing while on the historic first attempt to fly from San Francisco to the Territory of Hawaii—the vast Pacific between the mainland and the islands was considered impossible to cross by air. Rodgers and his crew survived but were presumed lost at sea when the Shenandoah crashed. Billy Mitchell, who counted Landowne and Rodgers as friends, took it badly when Secretary of the Navy Curtis Wilbur seemed to shrug off the air disasters with the statement, “The Atlantic and Pacific are still our best defense.”

An angry Mitchell issued a statement on September 5 proclaiming Landowne and Rodgers “martyrs” and blasting the “criminal negligence and almost treasonable administration of the national defense by the War and Navy Departments.” Mitchell acolyte Hap Arnold called it a “remarkable statement,” while President Coolidge announced that Mitchell would be court-martialed.2

Coolidge did establish an Aircraft Board to hold aviation hearings and asked J. P. Morgan partner Dwight W. Morrow to chair it. In the opinion of Arnold and others, the board had respectable members, including Morrow and Senator Hiram Bingham, a recently elected Republican from Connecticut and an adventurer credited with discovering the ruins of Machu Picchu. But the real purpose, Arnold felt, was to overshadow an investigation by Wisconsin Congressman Florian Lampert considered too favorable to Mitchell’s air power views.3

“Wrote Bingham a letter advocating a separate air force,” Hambleton recorded in his diary, echoing a key component of Mitchell’s crusade. A week later, Bingham invited Hambleton to testify before the Aircraft Board in Washington. On September 28, Hambleton noted he “occupied front row at hearing all day.” Major Kilner testified first, followed by others advocating for “[General Mason] Patrick’s scheme, that is a separate [air] corp within the War Dept.”4

Mitchell’s court-martial was scheduled for October 28, 1925, in Washington, and Hambleton talked with his old commander early in the month. “He is more optimistic than ever,” Hambleton concluded. “Says that all the board could be expected to disclose was that something is radically wrong.”5

Frank Reid, a Republican Representative from Illinois and Mitchell’s chief counsel, presented evidence the Shenandoah flight was ordered as a “publicity stunt” despite dangers that included bad weather. Reid noted faulty and obsolete planes used in the Great War, the lack of postwar investment in military aviation and air readiness, and the War Department’s “almost treasonable” failure to institute proper air service to defend the Hawaiian Islands until 1923. One key defense echoed Arnold’s crusade against SCADTA: “That the War Department has been guilty of almost treasonable administration in not forestalling the attempt of a foreign flight administration to secure a foothold in Central America, within striking distance of the Panama Canal, and though often requested to do so by the chief of the air service, it ignored this menace.”6

Colonel Hambleton, Captain Rickenbacker, Major Spaatz, and Major Arnold were among seventy-three defense witnesses. During the trial, General Fechet flew over the capitol on maneuvers, allowing Arnold, who was testifying, to point out the sound they heard overhead was a flyover of thirty-five planes—the Army’s entire air force.7 Raycroft Walsh, who flew the Central America survey the previous year, testified in support of a U.S. air presence in the Americas, adding “foreign interests had gained a foothold in Central America, threatening the Panama Canal.”8 Rickenbacker’s testimony assailed the War Department and government for using obsolete planes in World War I, the evidence being “the graves of men whose lives were a pitiful sacrifice.” He declared the military establishment “through petty selfishness and envy,” were now trying to destroy a man who served his country with distinction.

“I might as well have been talking to a stone wall,” Rickenbacker later lamented. “Billy Mitchell was found guilty and dismissed from the service. That was his reward for the great service he had given his country.”9

It was clear to air power advocates that commercial aviation was the best route to achieving their strategic vision. “[H]ealthy air transport was, is and always will be of vital importance to our country,” declared Rickenbacker, whose own civil aviation interests included Eastern Air Lines. “Only through the normal demands of a growing air transport industry could a healthy ­aircraft-manufacturing industry grow and prosper. . . . If the government would not train large numbers of men for aviation or encourage the establishment of at least potentially greater aircraft production, then it would be up to the commercial airlines to do so. By selling air travel, by increasing both mileage and service, by working constantly to perfect the reliability of commercial aviation, we could establish nuclei of production and training that could be expanded when the need arose.”10

Despite Mitchell’s court-martial, 1926 marked a breakthrough for American aviation. Many policymakers privately agreed it was in the national interest to block foreign airlines in Latin America. Even the Aircraft Board, which rejected a separate air force, influenced a reorganization of the Army Air Service through legislation establishing the Army Air Corps on July 2, 1926.11

The significant achievement was the Air Commerce Act of 1926, described as “the legislative corner-stone for the development of commercial aviation in America.” The new law separated military and civil aviation as well as mandated that the Secretary of Commerce encourage establishment of airways and air commerce, advance technology, license pilots, certify planes and equipment, and investigate accidents. The act stipulated all foreign aircraft, even commercial ones, had to secure permission to fly through U.S. airspace, including the Canal Zone, and that U.S. civilian planes obtain reciprocal rights.12

As prospects brightened, talks continued at Hambledune. Fife Symington, a future Pan Am executive, recalled listening to Trippe and Hambleton discuss ideas few dared dream. “[They] enthusiastically outlined their dreams and plans for transoceanic and transpolar flight . . . the financing, required government approval, most suitable airplanes for the routes, technical support and flying expertise of crew members charged with the responsibility of safe pilotage of the planes . . . Hambleton and Trippe’s particular interest was the careful planning of those subjects for the launching of an international airline.”13

Merian Cooper, now a Hollywood filmmaker, fixed the seminal talks at Hambledune as coming in late 1926 or early 1927, soon after his return from the jungles of Siam, where he and his production partner Ernest Schoedsack had made Chang, an adventure film for Paramount Pictures. “During this meeting we discussed at length the feasibility of pioneering, in the near future, Latin American commercial routes,” Cooper recalled. “It was then that Hambleton proposed, for the more distant future, his vision of intercontinental Polar Flights—a dream in those days more fantastic than today’s prospect of passenger flights to the Moon. It was beyond the wildest expectations of every pilot, engineer, and aircraft designer of that era. . . . It was his dream, and his alone; neither Trippe nor I (nor anyone else of whom I know) dreamed of it until then.”14

A commercial airway from America to Europe was another dream. In the tradition of cash competition to spur aviation, a $25,000 prize awaited the first to fly a heavier-than-air powered craft nonstop from New York to Paris. The offer, made in 1919 by French-born American hotelier Raymond Orteig, seemed impossible until aviation advances made the feat feasible by the mid-1920s. In 1926, French ace René Fonck made the first attempt, flying with a three-person crew in a trimotor Sikorsky outfitted with radio equipment and red leather padded seats. The plane didn’t even lift off from Long Island’s Roosevelt Field, crashing down an embankment at the end of the runway and killing two of Fonck’s crew. By April of 1927, Commander Richard Byrd’s Fokker crashed on its first test flight. Ten days later Noel David and Stanton Wooster, sponsored by the American Legion, died in a crash during their last test flight. On May 8, Frenchmen Charles Nungesser and François Coli, attempting to fly from Paris to New York, disappeared.15 Prize money seemed inconsequential, given the chances of wings icing over, engine failure, fatigue, or anything that could send a plane into the ocean. Only those born to the air contemplated it.
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In the predawn hours of May 20, 1927, Roosevelt Field was chilly, and a drizzle made the airfield muddy, but one young barnstorming airmail pilot decided to risk all. Juan Trippe, who was there, estimated 500 spectators had come to see history, or disaster, in the making. Among them were such aviation luminaries as Anthony Fokker, Bernt Balchen, René Fonck, and Ruth Nichols, as well as rivals for the Orteig Prize: Richard Byrd, Clarence Chamberlin, and Bert Acosta. On hand to record the event was a Fox Film Corporation newsreel crew equipped with a new sound-on-film process called Movietone.16

The pilot’s plane, covered in tarpaulin and secured to the back of a motor truck, arrived with a police escort from nearby Curtiss Field. The muddy runway had deep ruts requiring boards set across so the Spirit of St. Louis could be safely pulled to its starting point at the field’s western end. The slow march in darkness and drizzle conjured an image that would have been a premonition of doom to anyone but the flyer, Charles Lindbergh. “It’s more like a funeral procession than the beginning of a flight to Paris,” he thought.17

Trippe wondered if Lindbergh would even make it off the field. There was a gully in the middle, telephone wires at the end of the 5,000-foot runway, a muddy field, and the air was heavy. “I did not attempt to speak to him,” Trippe recalled. “I felt that he had enough on his mind. . . . I knew that his small plane was terribly overloaded with its 451 gallons of gasoline and 20 gallons of engine oil. He was well down into it, seated in a kind of wicker armchair, with extra fuel tanks built into the plane in front of his face where the windshield should have been. [The setup required a built-in periscope for Lindbergh to see in front of him.]

“The plane began to roll, very slowly at first, then a little faster. . . . Finally, he was in the air,” Trippe recalled. “He cleared the telephone wires, they said, by a mere 20 feet. Then he was gone and we all went back to the city. The next evening (Saturday) we were greatly relieved to learn that Lindbergh had landed safely at Le Bourget [airfield outside Paris].”18

Lindbergh flew past exhaustion and human endurance—he had been in the air thirty-three and one-half hours, setting a nonstop airplane flight record of 3,500 miles—when he saw the bright lights of Paris and used the illumination to steer toward Le Bourget airfield, where an estimated 150,000 were waiting. At 10:24 p.m., the crowd heard the miraculous sound of an engine roar from the sky, followed by the Spirit of St. Louis caught in the sweeping searchlights. As he landed, Lindbergh saw what he recalled as a “movement of humanity” across the airfield. Lindbergh was quickly spirited away and his history-making aircraft was secured in a hangar before the frenzied crowd caused damage to the pilot or his plane (a few souvenirs from the plane were grabbed, including the clipboard with Lindbergh’s flight log). Poet and publisher Harry Crosby, nephew and godson of J. P. Morgan, was there and described frenzied “pandemonium [of] wild animals let loose, and a stampede towards the plane . . . and it seems as if all the hands in the world are touching or trying to touch the new Christ and that the new Cross is the Plane and knives slash at the fuselage.”19
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